
 

 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

 

 

LLOYD J. MINER 

427 W. Upsal Street 

Philadelphia, PA 19119 

 

Plaintiff, 

 

vs. 

 

CITY OF PHILADELPHIA 

1401 JFK Blvd 

Philadelphia, PA 19102 

 

Defendant. 

 

 

 

 

No. _________________ 

 

CIVIL ACTION 

 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 

 

 

 

    

 

CIVIL ACTION COMPLAINT 

 

 Plaintiff, Lloyd Miner (hereinafter referred to as “Plaintiff”), by and through his 

undersigned counsel, hereby avers as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. Plaintiff has initiated this action to redress violations by the City of Philadelphia 

(hereinafter referred to as “Defendant”) of Section 1981 of the Civil Rights Act of 1866 (“Section 

1981” – 42 U.S.C. § 1981), Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 ("Title VII" - 42 U.S.C. §§ 

2000e, et. seq.), the Pennsylvania Human Relations Act ("PHRA - 43 Pa. C.S. §§ 951 et. seq.), 

and the Philadelphia Fair Practices Ordinance (“PFPO”).1 Plaintiff asserts herein that he was 

subjected to a hostile work environment and retaliated against by his employer, the City of 

Philadelphia, in violation of these laws and seeks damages as set forth more fully herein. 

 
1 Plaintiff’s claims under the PHRA and PFPO are referenced herein for notice purposes.  He is required to wait 1 full 

year before initiating a lawsuit from date of dual-filing with the EEOC.  Plaintiff must however file his lawsuit in 

advance of same because of the date of issuance of his federal right-to-sue-letter under the ADA.  Plaintiff’s PHRA 

and PFPO claims however will mirror identically his federal claims under the ADA. 
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. This Court may properly maintain personal jurisdiction over Defendant because 

Defendant’s contacts with this state and this judicial district are sufficient for the exercise of 

jurisdiction over Defendant to comply with traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice, 

satisfying the standard set forth by the United States Supreme Court in International Shoe Co. v. 

State of Washington, 326 U.S. 310 (1945) and its progeny. 

3. This action is initiated pursuant to federal law(s). The United States District Court 

for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania has original subject matter jurisdiction over this action 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 because the claims arise under laws of the United States.  This Court 

has supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiff's state-law claims because they arise out of the same 

common nucleus of operative facts as her federal claims herein.     

4. Venue is properly laid in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b)(1) and 

(b)(2), because Defendant resides in and/or conducts business in this judicial district and because 

a substantial part of the acts and/or omissions giving rise to the claims set forth herein occurred in 

this judicial district. 

5. Plaintiff is proceeding herein under Title VII and the PHRA and has properly 

exhausted his administrative remedies with respect to such claims by timely dual filing a Charge 

of Discrimination with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”) and the 

Pennsylvania Human Relations Commission (“PHRC”) and by filing the instant lawsuit within 

ninety (90) days of receiving a notice of dismissal and/or right to sue letter from the EEOC and 

after the charges have remained with the PHRC for over one year as required under 43 P.S. 

§962(c). 
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PARTIES 

6. The foregoing paragraphs are incorporated herein in their entirety as if set forth in 

full.     

7. Plaintiff is an adult individual, with and address as set forth in the caption. 

8. Defendant, the City of Philadelphia, is the largest city in the state of Pennsylvania.   

At all relevant times herein, Plaintiff worked in the Inspection Code Enforcement Department, 

which is charged with enforcing Defendant’s codes for the safe and lawful construction and use of 

buildings. 

9. At all times relevant herein, Defendant acted by and through its agents, servants, 

and employees, each of whom acted at all times relevant herein in the course and scope of their 

employment with and for the benefit of Defendant.  

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

10. The foregoing paragraphs are incorporated herein in their entirety as if set forth in 

full. 

11. Plaintiff is a black (African-American) male.  

12. Plaintiff was hired to work for Defendant on or about July 11, 2016, as a Code 

Enforcement Inspector in Defendant’s Licenses and Inspection Code Enforcement Department 

(hereinafter “L&I Department”).  

13. Plaintiff initially worked for Defendant in its North Operations District, then on or 

about January 29, 2018, he was transferred to Defendant’s West Operations District, followed by 

another transfer on or about May 10, 2021, to Defendant’s South Operations District. 

14. While employed with Defendant, relevant management has included but is not 

limited to:  Manager, Michael Troise (hereinafter “Troise” – Caucasian) and Supervisors Robert 
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Taylor (hereinafter “Taylor”), Ted Pendergrass (hereinafter “Pendergrass”), and John Grace 

(hereinafter “Grace”). During his employment with Defendant, Plaintiff has been a hard-working 

employee who performs his job well and was even noted by Troise as being a “top inspector” in 

early 2020. 

15. Beginning in or about 2017, Defendant’s management, including but not limited to 

Troise, began discriminating against Plaintiff and stereotyping him as an aggressive black male.  

Specifically, Troise accused Plaintiff of being “too aggressive” in implementing his inspections 

and writing up fire code violations despite that any and all marks/failures/violations Plaintiff wrote 

up were valid failure for which Plaintiff had been trained to document when inspecting. 

16. Despite following his training and Defendant’s policies in writing up valid 

failures/violations, Defendant began to disparately subject Plaintiff to surveillance by the Inspector 

General for alleged “aggressive” inspections. 

17. Defendant claimed in front of his peers they were going to send Plaintiff to “anger 

management” classes, simply to humiliate Plaintiff but never actually subjected him to those 

classes, and instead made Plaintiff re-take a Property Maintenance course (with new hires) despite 

that he had already taken such course and passed the same. 

18. Upon information and belief, non-black and/or Caucasian employees have not been 

subjected to this type of surveillance or retaliation when marking valid failures/violations in their 

inspections. 

19. Defendant, through Troise, maintains a widespread practice of stereotyping black 

(African-American) employees, including Plaintiff, as aggressive and disparately engaging in 

disciplinary actions. 
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20. Specifically, Defendant has issued multiple baseless and stereotypical disciplines 

to Plaintiff (that it has not issued to non-black and/or Caucasian employees), all which Plaintiff 

has objected to/complained about to Defendant’s management and Human Resources as 

discriminatory. By way of example, but not intended to be an exhaustive list: 

a. On or about December 27, 2017, Defendant pretextually suspended Plaintiff 

for three days without pay for allegedly being “aggressive;”  

b. On or about June 29, 2018, Defendant discriminatorily and pretextually 

suspended Plaintiff without pay for ten days after again being accused of 

being “aggressive,” “making others feel unsafe,” and “unpleasant and 

hostile in the office,” without any specific explanation to back up these 

accusations, which attempt to paint Plaintiff as a stereotypical “aggressive 

or threatening black male.” Plaintiff was further accused of working outside 

of his assigned territory – which is false, as Plaintiff was transferred from 

the North Operations district to the West Operations district in early 2018 

(as discussed supra) and had to close out his open cases from the North 

district before beginning in the West as required by Defendant, but never 

worked “outside his assigned territory; and 

c. On or about September 3, 2020, Defendant again accused Plaintiff of being 

“too aggressive” in conducting inspections and writing up code violations 

(all of which were valid failure/violations as discussed supra).  On or about 

March 26, 2021, some six months later, Plaintiff was issued a 20-day 

unpaid suspension for this alleged behavior.  

21. Plaintiff complained about each of these disciplines and baseless accusations to 

Troise; however, Troise simply responded that Plaintiff is “too aggressive,” and dismissed Plaintiff 

concerns by specifically reminding Plaintiff that he [Troise] is “in control of [Plaintiff’s] career.” 

22. Instead of meaningfully investigating Plaintiff’s aforesaid concerns of 

discrimination and disparate treatment, Defendant’s management, including but not limited to 

Troise, began to subject Plaintiff to increased hostility and animosity, through pretextual discipline 

and derogatory and disparate treatment.  For example, but not intended to be an exhaustive sample: 

a. After Plaintiff’s suspensions and as a result of Plaintiff’s complaint 

regarding the same, Troise directed Plaintiff that he was no longer permitted 

to do “interior inspections,” and instead relegated him only to only exterior 

Case 2:22-cv-01663-HB   Document 1   Filed 04/29/22   Page 5 of 14



 

6 

inspections of menial and demeaning tasks such as trash, weeds, and dog 

poop;  

  

b. Troise also directed new hires in Defendant’s L&I Department not to talk 

to Plaintiff because he was purportedly “always in trouble” (which even 

though is disputed, any “trouble” Plaintiff was in fact in was solely because 

of Troise’s discriminatory disciplines); 

 

c. Troise removed Plaintiff’s desk from all the other inspectors and kept 

Plaintiff isolated; and Troise’s general demeanor with Plaintiff has been 

cold and dismissive, while Troise does not treat non-black and/or Caucasian 

employees in the same cold and dismissive manner; 

 

d. Unlike his non-black and/or Caucasian co-workers, Plaintiff has been 

refused access to a Defendant issued vehicle to conduct his inspections, 

even when his personal vehicle was having mechanical issues; and 

 

e. Dating back to 2020, Plaintiff disparately has not received reimbursement 

for mileage expended in his personal vehicles to drive to and from 

inspections despite repeated requests for reimbursements. Upon 

information and belief, non-African-American employees have continued 

to receive regularly paid reimbursement for mileage expended and have 

been permitted to utilize a Defendant issued vehicle when their personal 

vehicles were out of service. Plaintiff complained about Defendant’s failure 

to reimburse him mileage costs to Defendant’s Human Resources, as well 

as directly to Taylor and Grace. 

 

23. Plaintiff has complained to his supervisors and Human Resources as well Deputy 

Commissioner, Ralph DePietro (hereinafter “DePietro” – Caucasian), that he believes the unfair 

treatment he has been receiving is discriminatory and retaliatory. 

24. However, upon information and belief, Defendant has not engaged in any 

meaningful investigation into Plaintiff’s complaints, and the discrimination and retaliation 

continues to date. 

25. Upon Plaintiff’s further information and belief, no investigation into Plaintiff’s 

mileage complaints has taken place, and Plaintiff to-date has not been reimbursed for owed 

mileage expenses for which non-black and/or Caucasian employees are regularly reimbursed. 
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26. Throughout his employment with Defendant, Plaintiff has tried his best to ignore 

Defendants unwanted harassment, discriminatory and retaliatory discipline/suspensions, and has 

made regular complaints about the same; however, the discriminatory and retaliatory harassment 

and behavior has not ceased.  As a result, Plaintiff has been detrimentally affected by the 

harassment and has experienced depression, anxiety, emotional distress, and insomnia. 

27. It is apparent Defendant is pretextually disciplining Plaintiff in an attempt to 

manufacture a reason to terminate him or attempt to force him to resign. 

28. Plaintiff’s supervisor Taylor openly discussed Plaintiff’s most recent 20-day 

suspension and complaints related to the same in front of the entire L&I department (a personal 

HR matter) and in front of many colleagues called Plaintiff a “liar,” and stated Plaintiff is “not to 

be trusted,” in a blatant attempt to humiliate Plaintiff in front of his peers. 

29. Based on the foregoing, Plaintiff believes and therefore avers that he was and is 

still being subjected to discrimination, retaliation, and to a hostile work environment because of 

his race and/or his objections to/complaints of race discrimination in violation of Title VII and the 

PHRA.  

COUNT I 

Violations of 42 U.S.C. § 1981 through 42 U.S.C. §19832 

(Hostile Work Environment and Retaliation) 

30. The foregoing paragraphs are incorporated herein in their entirety as if set forth in 

full. 

31. Plaintiff has been subjected to a barrage of discriminatory and stereotypical 

comments, accusations, and discipline since in or about early 2017 on a regular and continuing 

 
2 A claim against a government actor for a violation of Section 1981 can in appropriate circumstances be brought 

under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. Walker v. City of Coatesville, No. 14-853, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 165434 (E.D. Pa. Nov. 

26, 2014) (McHugh, J.) ("I conclude that the four-year statute of limitations established by 28 U.S.C. §1656 governs 

the Section 1981 claim that the plaintiff in this case has brought through Section 1983."). 
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basis and continues to be subjected to the same to date. 

32. Plaintiff has been issued various unpaid suspensions for allegedly being too 

“aggressive” or making others feel “unsafe,” which are clearly attempts at painting Plaintiff as a 

stereotypical aggressive black male with no legitimate explanation. 

33. These actions are a part of a widespread practice of Defendants which establish a 

practice of stereotyping and discriminating against black (African-American) employees, 

including Plaintiff. 

34. Plaintiff has regularly complained about this discriminatory and retaliatory 

treatment, including but limited to the instances of pretextual discipline, but upon information and 

belief, Defendant’s management and Human Resources failed to do any meaningful investigation 

into Plaintiff’s complaints and the discriminatory treatment has continued to date. 

35. Plaintiff believes and therefore avers that he was and is still being subjected to 

discrimination, retaliation, and to a hostile work environment because of his race and/or his 

objections to/complaints of race discrimination. These actions as aforesaid constitute unlawful 

discrimination and retaliation under Section 1981. 

COUNT II 

Violations of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 ("Title VII") 

(Hostile Work Environment and Retaliation) 

 

36. The foregoing paragraphs are incorporated herein in their entirety as if set forth in 

full. 

37. Plaintiff has been subjected to a barrage of discriminatory and stereotypical 

comments, accusations, and discipline since in or about early 2017 on a regular and continuing 

basis and continues to be subjected to the same to date. 
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38. Plaintiff has been issued various unpaid suspensions for alleged being too 

“aggressive” or making others feel “unsafe,” which are clearly attempts at painting Plaintiff as a 

stereotypical aggressive black male with no legitimate explanation. 

39. Plaintiff has regularly complained about this discriminatory and retaliatory 

treatment, including but limited to the instances of pretextual discipline, but upon information and 

belief Defendant’s management and Human Resources failed to do any meaningful investigation 

into Plaintiff’s complaints and the discriminatory treatment has continued to date. 

40. Plaintiff believes and therefore avers that he was and is still being subjected to 

discrimination, retaliation, and to a hostile work environment because of his race and/or his 

objections to/complaints of race discrimination. . 

41. These actions as aforesaid constitute unlawful discrimination and retaliation under 

Title VII.  

Count III 

Violations of the Pennsylvania Human Relations Act (“PHRA”) 

(Hostile Work Environment and Retaliation) 

 

42. The foregoing paragraphs are incorporated herein in their entirety as if set forth in 

full. 

43. Plaintiff re-asserts the same claims as set forth in Count II herein, as they constitute 

the same violations of the Pennsylvania Human Relations Act (“PHRA”), which is the state 

equivalent of such laws interpreted and analyzed in the same manner in the Third Circuit. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays that this Court enter an order providing that: 

A. Defendant is to be prohibited from continuing to maintain its illegal policy, 

practice, or custom of retaliating against employees and is to be ordered to promulgate an effective 
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policy against such discrimination/retaliation and to adhere thereto (awarding Plaintiff such 

injunctive and/or equitable relief);  

B. Defendant is to compensate Plaintiff, reimburse Plaintiff, and make Plaintiff whole 

for any and all pay and benefits Plaintiff would have received had it not been for Defendant’s 

illegal actions, including but not limited to back pay, front pay, bonuses and medical and other 

benefits 

C. Plaintiff is to be awarded punitive damages as permitted by applicable law, in an 

amount believed by the Court or trier of fact to be appropriate to punish Defendant for its willful, 

deliberate, malicious and outrageous conduct and to deter Defendant or other employers from 

engaging in such misconduct in the future; 

D. Plaintiff is to be accorded any and all other equitable and legal relief as the Court 

deems just, proper, and appropriate (including but not limited to emotional distress/pain and 

suffering damages - where permitted under applicable law(s)). 

E. Plaintiff is to be awarded the costs and expenses of this action and reasonable legal 

fees as provided by applicable federal and state law; 

F. Any verdict in favor of Plaintiff is to be molded by the Court to maximize the 

financial recovery available to Plaintiff in light of the caps on certain damages set forth in 

applicable federal law; and 

G. Plaintiff’s claims are to receive a trial by jury to the extent allowed by applicable 

law.  Plaintiff has also endorsed this demand on the caption of this Complaint in accordance with 

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 38(b).   

 

 

Case 2:22-cv-01663-HB   Document 1   Filed 04/29/22   Page 10 of 14



 

11 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

KARPF, KARPF & CERUTTI, P.C. 

 

 

           

      Ari R. Karpf, Esq. 

      Allison A. Barker, Esq. 

      3331 Street Road 

      Building 2, Suite 128 

      Bensalem, PA 19020 

      (215) 639-0801 

Dated: April 29, 2022 
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         City of Philadelphia

4/29/2022
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